
 

 

 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Agenda - Monday, November 21, 2022 - 6:00 PM 

 

 

Call to Order 

Roll Call 

Invocation given by Mayor Brown  

Pledge of Allegiance given by Central Records and Communications Commander Doug 

Avery  

CITIZEN COMMUNICATION  

Please fill out a Citizen Communication Card with your name and contact information for the 

City Clerk's records. 

A limit of five (5) minutes per person is allotted for citizens to express their concerns to the 

Board of Directors, with a maximum of fifty (50) minutes reserved for Citizens 

Communication.   The Board of Directors cannot respond to citizens’ concerns during this time. 

Be respectful of the Board of Directors, city staff, and the public by refraining from abusive 

conduct, personal charges, or verbal attacks. 

CONSENT 

1. Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting November 7, 2022.  (CCD) City Clerk Heather 

Soyars 

REGULAR 

2. Adopt a Resolution to authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract with Stan Excavating 

Company for the demolition of the Regency House located at 110 E. Broad Street in Ward 2. 

(PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards 

3. Adopt a Resolution authorizing the transfer of existing bonds from Cooper Tire & Rubber 

Company to Good Year Tire & Rubber Company. (ADMIN) Finance Director TyRhonda 

Henderson  

4. Adopt an Ordinance authorizing the City Manager to enter into a service agreement with the 

Texarkana Chamber of Commerce for support services to include advertising and 

development of a mobile tour application. (ADMIN) City Manager Jay Ellington 

An emergency clause is requested. An emergency clause requires a separate and distinct 

vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the Board. 



 

5. Adopt an Ordinance authorizing the City Manager to enter into a service agreement with Main 

Street Texarkana for support services to include the 2022 Christmas Parade, Broad Street 

lighting upgrades and landscape enhancements. (ADMIN) City Manager Jay Ellington 

An emergency clause is requested. An emergency clause requires a separate and distinct 

vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the Board. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' COMMENTARY 

CITY MANAGER REPORT 

NEXT MEETING DATE:  Tuesday, December 6, 2022 

ADJOURN 

 

City Calendar 

Main Street Christmas Parade - Monday, December 5th - 7PM - 9PM 

Celebration of the Feast of Our Lady of Guadalupe - Sunday, December 11th - 12PM - 1PM 

Mardi Gras Parade - Saturday, February 18th - 4PM - 6PM 

Run the Line - Sunday, February 19th - 7AM - 12:30PM 

 

 Texarkana Rec Center Calendar 

Ageless Grace - Mondays – 2PM – 3PM 

Gym Open - Mondays, Wednesdays & Fridays – 8AM - 7PM & Saturdays - 8AM – Noon 

Dance Fitness - Tuesdays - 6PM & Saturdays - 11AM 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting November 7, 2022.  

(CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

AGENDA DATE: November 21, 2022 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☐  Other☒: Minutes 

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk Department 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

REQUEST: Approval of meeting minutes. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Approval of meeting minutes 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

The City Clerk recommends Board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Meeting minutes. 

 



 

 

 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Minutes - Monday, November 07, 2022 - 6:00 PM 

 

 

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM. 

PRESENT: Mayor Allen Brown, Ward 1 Director Terry Roberts, Ward 2 Director Laney Harris, 

Assistant Mayor Ward 3 Steven Hollibush, Ward 4 Director Ulysses Brewer, and Ward 5 Director 

Barbara Miner. 

ALSO, PRESENT: City Manager E. Jay Ellington, City Attorney George Matteson, City Clerk 

Heather Soyars and Deputy City Clerk Jenny Narens. 

ABSENT:  Ward 6 Director Jeff Hart. 

Invocation given by Assistant Mayor Hollibush. 

Pledge of Allegiance led by Bi-State Justice Building Maintenance Manager Kristine Barron. 

CITIZEN COMMUNICATION 

Director Miner said litter was bad in the community and urged citizens to help pick it up.  She 

asked if the Texarkana Gazette would not fold the Sunday’s paper like they did.  Director Miner 

mentioned she served on the Board for eight years and these would be her final few Board 

meetings.        

Director Harris read the proclamation from Governor Asa Hutchinson, declaring November 2022, 

as Business and Industry Appreciation Month in Arkansas.    

PROCLAMATION(S) 

1. Proclamation declaring November 26, 2022, as Small Business Saturday. (ADMIN)  

PRESENTATION(S) 

2. Presentation of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Employee Service Awards. (ADMIN)  

 
Thomas Durham  TWU 5 years 

James Whisenhunt, III  TWU 10 years 

Justicia Magsalay TAPD 5 years 

Landon Loe TAPD 5 years  

Thomas West TAPD 15 years 



 

Larry Cook TAFD 15 years 

Jason Carroll TAFD 20 years 

Michael McKee TAFD 20 years 

Brian Irvin TAFD 20 years 

Jim Wall TAFD 20 years 

Vincent Johnson  TAFD 30 years 

 

3. Presentation by the Texarkana Regional Airport. (AIRPORT) Airport Director Paul Mehrlich  

CONSENT 

Director Roberts made the motion to adopt the Consent agenda, Seconded by Assistant Mayor 

Hollibush.  The motion carried and the following items were approved:  

4. Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting October 17, 2022.  (CCD) City Clerk Heather 

Soyars 

5. Resolution No. 2022-65 approved the reimbursement of $38,100.00 to the Texarkana 

Regional Airport from American Rescue Act Funds. (FIN) Finance Director TyRhonda 

Henderson   

REGULAR 

6. *THIS ITEM WAS TABLED ON THE PREVIOUS MEETING, OCTOBER 17, 2022* 

Adopt a Resolution requesting the Miller County Quorum Court to increase the County Road 

levy to the maximum 3.0 mills. (ADMIN) City Manager E. Jay Ellington  

After a brief discussion, the motion to table the resolution indefinitely made by Director Roberts, 

Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hollibush.   

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution tabled indefinitely. 

 

7. Resolution No. 2022-66 authorized the City Manager to seek proposals for Amendment 78 

financing for capital improvements for the Front Street Plaza project and to amend the FY2022 

General Fund Budget to increase funding amount and associated allocation. (FIN) Finance 

Director TyRhonda Henderson  

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Director Roberts, Seconded 

by Assistant Mayor Hollibush.   

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

 



 

8. Resolution No. 2022-67 renewed the agreement with Gabriel, Roeder, Smith & Company for 

actuarial services for the Texarkana Arkansas Public Employee Retirement System 

(TAPERS). (FIN) Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Assistant Mayor Hollibush, 

Seconded by Director Brewer.   

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

 

9. Resolution No. 2022-68 authorized the City Manager to enter into an Industry Track 

Agreement with Union Pacific Railroad and an Agreement and Consent to Joint Use of Track 

with Cooper Tire. (ADMIN) City Manager Jay Ellington 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Assistant Mayor Hollibush, 

Seconded by Director Brewer.   

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

 

10. Ordinance No. 31-2022 rezoned two tracts of land located in Ward 3 in the 5800 block of East 

9th Street from R-1 Rural residential to A-1 Mixed use rural zoning in order to build 

garage/shop (Smith). (PWD-Planning) City Planner Mary Beck  

After a brief discussion, the motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its first reading 

in abbreviated form made by Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Seconded by Director Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the first time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Brewer, Seconded by Director Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Director Brewer, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hollibush. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Seconded by Director Miner. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 



 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

 

11. Ordinance No. 32-2022 rezoned a quarter section of land located in Ward 3 in the 5100 block 

of Old Post Road from R-1 Rural residential to M-2 General manufacturing that would allow 

a one-year conditional use permit for batch concrete/asphalt mixing to occur up to 180 days 

of the permitted time in order to provide materials for renovations at the Texarkana Airport. 

(PWD-Planning) City Planner Mary Beck 

After a brief discussion, the motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its first reading 

in abbreviated form made by Director Roberts, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hollibush. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the first time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Seconded by Director Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Seconded by Director Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Director Roberts, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hollibush. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' COMMENTARY 

Director Roberts wanted to give a notice regarding the Christmas Parade to the shops downtown 

in case they wanted to stay open during that time for extra business.    

Director Harris asked why it took so long to mow the grass he had requested several months ago.  

He said he noticed there were several electric lines being cut around town, but not in the area he 

wanted them to be cut.  Director Harris said he requested a FOIA about concrete the other day and 

he wondered why his request for sidewalks on Pinehurst Street, had not been done.  He asked that 

the City go to the Iron Mountain and Sandflat centers to get input on the Community Development 



 

Block Grant Funding money.  Director Harris asked what the City could do about starting a 

housing program for senior citizens.  

Director Roberts said the SWEPCO representative told him that circuit 6570 was the 7th worst 

performing circuit they had, and it was due to overgrown trees and lines.  He said there were over 

350 citizens from Ward 1 on this circuit and he had been working with SWEPCO for over a year 

trying to fix the problem.  Director Roberts said the last time the trees were trimmed was 26 years 

ago and SWEPCO was working on cutting the overgrown trees.   

Assistant Mayor Hollibush said there was a new pavilion built at the Iron Mountain Center and 

this past Saturday, they held a ribbon cutting for it.  He said he had worked with a group of people 

to bring back the Mardi Gras Parade and it was scheduled for February 18, 2023.   

CITY MANAGER REPORT 

City Manager E. Jay Ellington gave the following report: 

 He said there would be service based contracts brought before the Board for REDI, 

Chamber of Commerce, MainStreet, Crossties, and 1894. 

 He said Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson should have the budget workbooks out to 

each Board member by November 23, 2022.  And he would like to schedule budget 

workshops for November 28 and 29, 2022. 

 He said each Board member had received the LifeNet report from the new Chief Executive 

Officer Dave Snavley.  And if the Board wanted him to come and give a presentation, he 

would set it up.   

 The Christmas Parade would be December 5, 2022.  

 He said on November 21, 2022, at 5:00PM there would be a Solid Waste Committee 

Meeting.  

 He congratulated TyRhonda Henderson on her win with Arkansas Business.   

NEXT MEETING DATE:  Monday, November 21, 2022 

ADJOURN 

Motion to adjourn made by Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Seconded by Director Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Assistant Mayor Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Miner.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the meeting adjourned at 7:28 PM. 

APPROVED this the 21st day of November 2022. 

 

____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

____________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution to authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract 

with Stan Excavating Company for the demolition of the Regency House 

located at 110 E. Broad Street in Ward 2. (PWD) Public Works Director 

Tyler Richards 

AGENDA DATE: November 21, 2022 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance��   Resolution��   Other�� :  

DEPARTMENT: Public Works 

PREPARED BY: Tyler Richards 

REQUEST: Resolution to authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract with 

Stan Excavating Company for the demolition of the Regency House 

located at 110 E. Broad Street in Ward 2. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: This resolution authorizes the City Manager to enter into a contract with 

Stan Excavating Company to demolish the Regency House located at 

110 E. Broad Street.  This partially demolished three-story structure is 

framed with steel and lumber with brick veneer.  One bid was received 

from Stan Excavating Company, Texarkana, Texas.  This project is 

budgeted. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $450,000 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $300.000 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$150,000 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

The City Manager recommends Board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution and Bid Sheet. 

 



RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 WHEREAS, after advertisement, one bid in the amount of $450,000.00 was 

submitted by Stan Excavating Company, for the demolition of the Regency House located 

at 110 E. Broad Street; and   

WHEREAS, $300,000.00 is budgeted for such expense and, thus, an appropriation 

of $150,000.00 is required; and 

WHEREAS, the City Manager and staff recommend approval; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED  by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a contract 

with Stan Excavating Company, for the purposes and in the amount set forth above, and 

further the FY2022 Budget is amended for the corresponding appropriation and expense. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 21st day of November, 2022. 

 
 

      
Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST:  

 

       
Heather Soyars, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED: 

 

       
George Matteson, City Attorney 























































 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE:  Adopt a Resolution authorizing the transfer of existing bonds from 
Cooper Tire & Rubber Company to Good Year Tire & Rubber 
Company. (ADMIN) Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson  

AGENDA DATE:  November 21, 2022 

ITEM TYPE:  Ordinance��   Resolution��   Other�� :  

DEPARTMENT:  Finance Department 

PREPARED BY: TyRhonda Henderson, Finance Director  

REQUEST: Transfer existing bonds from Cooper Tire & Rubber to Good Year Tire 
& Rubber Company.  

EMERGENCY CLAUSE : N/A 

SUMMARY : Adopt a Resolution authorizing the transfer of existing bonds from 
Cooper Tire & Rubber Company to Good Year Tire & Rubber Company 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $0 

AMOUNT BUDGETED:  $0 

APPROPRIATION 
REQUIRED:  

$0 

RECOMMENDED 
ACTION : 

Approval recommended by City Manager and City Staff  

EXHIBITS:  Resolution and bond documents 

 



RESOLUTION NO.________ 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. L-364, and Ordinance No. 24-2017, the 

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, ���W�K�H���³�&�L�W�\�´�����D�X�W�K�R�U�L�]�H�G���D�Q�G���G�L�U�H�F�W�H�G���W�K�H���0�D�\�R�U���D�Q�G���W�K�H���&�L�W�\��

Clerk, on behalf of the City, to enter into and perform all of the �&�L�W�\�¶�V���R�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�V���,�V�V�X�H�U��

under those certain Indentures, dated as of November 1, 2010, and November 1, 2017, 

respectively  ���W�K�H���³�,�Q�G�H�Q�W�X�U�H�V�´�����E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���W�K�H���&�L�W�\���D�Q�G���8���6�����%�D�Q�N���1�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���$�V�V�R�F�L�D�W�L�R�Q�����6�W����

�3�D�X�O�����0�L�Q�Q�H�V�R�W�D�����D�V���7�U�X�V�W�H�H�����W�K�H���³�7�U�X�V�W�H�H�´��  The Indentures were entered into in connection 

with those certain revenue bonds issued by the City to Cooper Tire & Rubber Company, a 

�'�H�O�D�Z�D�U�H�� �F�R�U�S�R�U�D�W�L�R�Q�� ���³�&�R�R�S�H�U�´���� �W�R�� �I�L�Q�D�Q�F�H�� �W�K�H�� �F�R�V�W�V�� �R�I�� �D�F�T�X�L�U�L�Q�J���� �F�R�Q�V�W�U�X�F�W�L�Q�J���� �D�Q�G��

equipping an industrial plant located in the �&�L�W�\�����W�K�H���³�2�U�L�J�L�Q�D�O���%�R�Q�G�V�´���� and 

WHEREAS, as part of a corporate restructuring, Cooper will transfer the Original 

Bonds to its parent company, The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company, an Ohio corporation 

���³�*�R�R�G�\�H�D�U�´���� and 

WHEREAS, Section 210 of each of the Indentures authorizes Cooper to transfer 

the Original Bonds by surrendering the Original Bonds to the Trustee and, in connection 

with such event, requires the Mayor and the City Clerk to execute replacement bonds, on 

behalf of the City, in the name of the transferee Goodyear; and  

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors have been advised that Cooper has surrendered 

the Original Bonds to the Trustee; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors have been presented with the form of the 

replacement bonds to be effective as of November 25, 2022, at 12:00:01 A.M. E.S.T. (the 

�³�5�H�S�O�D�F�H�P�H�Q�W���%�R�Q�G�V�´���� �Z�K�L�F�K���5�H�S�O�D�F�H�P�H�Q�W���%�R�Q�G�V���D�U�H���V�X�E�V�W�D�Q�W�L�D�O�O�\�� �L�Q���W�K�H���V�D�P�H���I�R�U�P���D�V��

the Original Bonds.  



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED  by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the Mayor and the City Clerk are directed to execute the 

Replacement Bonds and deliver the same to the Trustee for authentication as required by 

the Indentures. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 21st day of November, 2022. 

 
 

      
Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST:  

 

       
Heather Soyars, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED: 

 

       
George Matteson, City Attorney 

 



 

 

No. R-2 $250,000,000 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF ARKANSAS 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 
TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BOND 

(COOPER TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY PROJECT) 
SERIES 2017 

Date of Bond:  November 25, 2022 Maturity Date:  November 1, 2047 

Interest Rate:  5% per annum 

Registered Owner: THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY 

Principal Amount: TWO HUNDRED FIFTY MILLION DOLLARS 
(or the total principal amount outstanding as reflected by the 
Record of Advances and Principal Payments attached hereto) 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

That the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, a municipality organized and existing under the laws 
of the State of Arkansas (the "Issuer"), for value received, promises to pay to the registered owner 
shown above, or registered assigns, but solely from the source and in the manner hereinafter set 
forth, the principal amount shown above and in like manner to pay interest on said amount from 
the date hereof shown above until payment of such principal amount has been made or duly 
provided for, at the rate per annum shown above, semiannually on May 1 and November 1 of each 
year commencing on May 1, 2018, except as the provisions hereinafter set forth with respect to 
redemption of this Bond prior to maturity may become applicable hereto.  The principal of this 
Bond is payable in lawful money of the United States of America upon the presentation and 
surrender hereof at the principal corporate trust office of U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association, St. Paul, Minnesota, successor in interest to U.S. Bank National Association, or its 
successor or successors, as Trustee (the "Trustee"), and interest on this Bond is payable in like 
money to the registered owner hereof by check or draft drawn upon the Trustee and mailed or, in 
certain circumstances described in the Indenture, by wire transfer to the person in whose name this 
Bond is registered at the close of business on the fifteenth day of the calendar month next preceding 
that in which such interest payment shall fall (the "Record Date"), at his address as it appears on 
the bond registration books of the Issuer kept by the Trustee. 

This Bond is the single bond comprising a series of Bonds in the aggregate principal 
amount of not to exceed $250,000,000 (the "Bonds"), issued for the purpose of financing the cost 
of acquiring, constructing and equipping an industrial project within the boundaries of the Issuer 
(the "Project"), for use by Cooper Tire & Rubber Company, a Delaware corporation (the 
"Company"), and paying the expenses of issuing the Bonds.  The Bonds are all issued under and 
are all equally and ratably secured and entitled to the protection given by a Trust Indenture dated 
as of November 1, 2017 (the "Indenture"), duly executed and delivered by the Issuer to the Trustee.  
The Indenture provides that the Issuer may hereafter issue Additional Bonds from time to time 
under certain terms and conditions contained in the Indenture and, if issued, such Additional Bonds 



 

 

will be equally and ratably secured by and entitled to the protection of the Indenture.  Reference 
is hereby made to the Indenture and all indentures supplemental thereto for the provisions, among 
others, with respect to the nature and extent of the security, the rights, duties and obligations of the 
Issuer, the Trustee and the registered owners of the Bonds, and the terms upon which the Bonds 
are issued and secured.  The terms and conditions of the financing of the Project, the use of the 
proceeds of the Bonds by the Company for such purpose, and the payment of certain amounts 
thereunder, are contained a Lease Agreement dated as of November 1, 2017 (the "Lease 
Agreement"), by and between the Issuer and the Company. 

The Bonds are issued pursuant to and in full compliance with the laws of the State of 
Arkansas, particularly Title 14, Chapter 164, Subchapter 2 of the Arkansas Code of 1987 
Annotated (the "Act"), and pursuant to an Order of the Issuer, which authorized the execution and 
delivery of the Indenture.  The Bonds and the interest thereon do not constitute an indebtedness of 
the Issuer within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory limitation. 

The Bonds are not general obligations of the Issuer but are special obligations payable 
solely from revenues derived from the Lease Agreement.  The Lease Agreement provide for lease 
payments by the Company in amounts sufficient to provide for the payment of the principal of and 
interest on the Bonds as due and payable.  Provision has been made in the Lease Agreement for 
such payments to be paid directly to the Trustee and deposited in a special account of the Issuer 
designated "Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bond Fund - Cooper Tire & Rubber 
Company Project," and such payments have been duly assigned to the Trustee for that purpose.  
All the rights and interest of the Issuer in and to the Lease Agreement (except for certain rights 
specified in the Indenture) have been assigned under the Indenture to the Trustee to secure the 
payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  In addition, the payment of the principal 
and interest has been unconditionally guaranteed by the Company pursuant to a Guaranty 
Agreement dated as of November 1, 2017, entered into between the Company and the Trustee. 

The owner of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the Indenture or to 
institute action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any action with respect to any event of 
default under the Indenture, or to institute, appear in and defend any suit or other proceeding with 
respect thereto, except as provided in the Indenture.  In certain events, on the conditions, in the 
manner and with the effect set forth in the Indenture, the principal of this Bond may be declared 
and may become due and payable before the stated maturity thereof, together with accrued interest 
thereon. 

Modifications or alterations of the Indenture, or of any indenture supplemental thereto, 
may be made only to the extent and in the circumstances permitted by the Indenture. 

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Issuer, to be 
exercised solely as directed by the Company, in whole or in part at any time (and if in part, by lot 
or in such other manner as may be determined by the Trustee to be fair and equitable), at a 
redemption price equal to the principal amount being redeemed plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date. 

In the event any of the Bonds or portions thereof (which shall be $100,000 or any integral 
multiple of $5,000 in excess of $100,000) are called for redemption, notice thereof shall be given 



 

 

by the Trustee by registered or certified mail to the registered owner of each such Bond addressed 
to such registered owner at his registered address, and placed in the mails not less than thirty (30) 
nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date fixed for redemption; provided, however, that failure 
to give such notice by mailing, or any defect therein, shall not affect the validity of the proceedings 
for the redemption of any Bond with respect to which no such failure or defect has occurred.  Each 
notice shall identify the Bonds or portions thereof being called, and the date on which they shall 
be presented for payment.  After the date specified in such call, the Bond or Bonds so called will 
cease to bear interest provided funds sufficient for their redemption have been deposited with the 
Trustee, and, except for the purpose of payment, shall no longer be protected by the Indenture and 
shall not be deemed to be outstanding under the provisions of the Indenture. 

With respect to notice of redemption of the Bonds, unless moneys sufficient to pay the 
principal of and interest on the Bonds to be redeemed shall have been received by the Trustee prior 
to the giving of such notice, such notice shall state that said redemption shall be conditional upon 
the receipt of such moneys by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption.  If 
such moneys shall not have been so received, such notice shall be of no force and effect, the Issuer 
shall not redeem such Bonds and the Trustee shall give notice, in the manner in which the notice 
of redemption was given, that such moneys were not so received. 

This Bond may be transferred on the books of registration kept by the Trustee by the 
registered owner or by his duly authorized attorney upon surrender hereof, together with a written 
instrument of transfer duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized attorney. 

The Bonds are issuable as registered Bonds without coupons in denominations of $100,000 
or any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess of $100,000.  Subject to the limitations and upon 
payment of the charges provided in the Indenture, Bonds may be exchanged for a like aggregate 
principal amount of Bonds of other authorized denominations. 

This Bond is issued with the intent that the laws of the State of Arkansas will govern its 
construction. 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED, RECITED AND DECLARED that all acts, conditions and 
things required to exist, happen and be performed precedent to and in the issuance of the Bonds 
do exist, have happened and have been performed in due time, form and manner as required by 
law; that the indebtedness represented by the Bonds, together with all obligations of the Issuer, 
does not exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation; and that the above referred to revenues 
pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same become due and 
payable will be sufficient in amount for that purpose.



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Texarkana, Arkansas has caused this Bond to be 
executed by its Mayor and City Clerk, thereunto duly authorized (by their manual or facsimile 
signatures), and its corporate seal to be affixed or imprinted, all as of the date of this Bond shown 
above. 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

  
Mayor 

 
ATTEST 
 
  
City Clerk 
 
(SEAL) 

 
  



 

 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bond is one of the Bonds of the issue described in and issued under the provisions of 
the within mentioned Indenture. 

Date of registration and authentication: November 25, 2022 

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION  
Trustee 
 
 
 
By:  

Authorized Signature 
 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, _______________ ("Transferor"), hereby sells, assigns and 
transfers unto ______________, the within Bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably 
constitutes and appoints ______________ ("Transferee") as attorney to transfer the within Bond 
on the books kept for registration thereof with full power of substitution in the premises. 

DATE: , ___________ 

  
Transferor 

GUARANTEED BY: 

  

NOTICE:  Signature(s) must be guaranteed by a member firm of the New York Stock 
Exchange or a commercial bank or a trust company. 

  



 

 

RECORD OF ADVANCES AND PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS 

Date of Advance 
or Principal 
Payment 

Amount of 
Advance 

Amount of 
Principal 
Payment 

Total Principal 
Outstanding 

Signature of 
Authorized 
Officer 

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

 
*The date of each Advance shall be the interest commencement date from which the principal 
amount of such Advance bears interest. 



No. R-2  $20,000,000 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF ARKANSAS 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 
TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BOND 

(COOPER TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY PROJECT) 
SERIES 2009 

Date of Bond:  November 25, 2022 Maturity Date:  November 1, 2034 

Interest Rate:  5% per annum  

Registered Owner:  The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company 

Principal Amount: TWENTY MILLION DOLLARS  
(or the total principal amount outstanding as reflected by the 
Record of Advances and Principal Payments attached hereto) 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

That the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, a municipality organized and existing under the laws 
of the State of Arkansas (the "Issuer"), for value received, promises to pay to the registered owner 
shown above, or registered assigns, but solely from the source and in the manner hereinafter set 
forth, the principal amount shown above and in like manner to pay interest on said amount from 
the date hereof shown above until payment of such principal amount has been made or duly 
provided for, at the rate per annum shown above, semiannually on May 1 and November 1 of each 
year commencing on May 1, 2011, except as the provisions hereinafter set forth with respect to 
redemption of this Bond prior to maturity may become applicable hereto.  The principal of this 
Bond is payable in lawful money of the United States of America upon the presentation and 
surrender hereof at the principal corporate trust office of U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association, St. Paul, Minnesota, successor in interest to U.S. Bank National Association, or its 
successor or successors, as Trustee (the "Trustee"), and interest on this Bond is payable in like 
money to the registered owner hereof by check or draft drawn upon the Trustee and mailed or, in 
certain circumstances described in the Indenture, by wire transfer to the person in whose name this 
Bond is registered at the close of business on the fifteenth day of the calendar month next preceding 
that in which such interest payment shall fall (the "Record Date"), at his address as it appears on 
the bond registration books of the Issuer kept by the Trustee. 

This Bond is the single bond comprising a series of Bonds in the aggregate principal 
amount of not to exceed $20,000,000 (the "Bonds"), issued for the purpose of financing the cost 
of acquiring, constructing and equipping an industrial project within the boundaries of the Issuer 
(the "Project"), for use by Cooper Tire & Rubber Company, a Delaware corporation (the 
"Company"), and paying the expenses of issuing the Bonds.  The Bonds are all issued under and 
are all equally and ratably secured and entitled to the protection given by a Trust Indenture dated 
as of November 1, 2010 (the "Indenture"), duly executed and delivered by the Issuer to the Trustee.  
The Indenture provides that the Issuer may hereafter issue Additional Bonds from time to time 
under certain terms and conditions contained in the Indenture and, if issued, such Additional Bonds 
will be equally and ratably secured by and entitled to the protection of the Indenture.  Reference 



 

 

is hereby made to the Indenture and all indentures supplemental thereto for the provisions, among 
others, with respect to the nature and extent of the security, the rights, duties and obligations of the 
Issuer, the Trustee and the registered owners of the Bonds, and the terms upon which the Bonds 
are issued and secured.  The terms and conditions of the financing of the Project, the use of the 
proceeds of the Bonds by the Company for such purpose, and the payment of certain amounts 
thereunder, are contained a Lease Agreement dated as of November 1, 2010 (the "Lease 
Agreement"), by and between the Issuer and the Company. 

The Bonds are issued pursuant to and in full compliance with the laws of the State of 
Arkansas, particularly Title 14, Chapter 164, Subchapter 2 of the Arkansas Code of 1987 
Annotated (the "Act"), and pursuant to an Order of the Issuer, which authorized the execution and 
delivery of the Indenture.  The Bonds and the interest thereon do not constitute an indebtedness of 
the Issuer within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory limitation. 

The Bonds are not general obligations of the Issuer but are special obligations payable 
solely from revenues derived from the Lease Agreement.  The Lease Agreement provide for lease 
payments by the Company in amounts sufficient to provide for the payment of the principal of and 
interest on the Bonds as due and payable.  Provision has been made in the Lease Agreement for 
such payments to be paid directly to the Trustee and deposited in a special account of the Issuer 
designated "Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bond Fund - Cooper Tire & Rubber 
Company Project," and such payments have been duly assigned to the Trustee for that purpose.  
All the rights and interest of the Issuer in and to the Lease Agreement (except for certain rights 
specified in the Indenture) have been assigned under the Indenture to the Trustee to secure the 
payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  In addition, the payment of the principal 
and interest has been unconditionally guaranteed by the Company pursuant to a Guaranty 
Agreement dated as of November 1, 2010, entered into between the Company and the Trustee. 

The owner of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the Indenture or to 
institute action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any action with respect to any event of 
default under the Indenture, or to institute, appear in and defend any suit or other proceeding with 
respect thereto, except as provided in the Indenture.  In certain events, on the conditions, in the 
manner and with the effect set forth in the Indenture, the principal of this Bond may be declared 
and may become due and payable before the stated maturity thereof, together with accrued interest 
thereon. 

Modifications or alterations of the Indenture, or of any indenture supplemental thereto, 
may be made only to the extent and in the circumstances permitted by the Indenture. 

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Issuer, to be 
exercised solely as directed by the Company, in whole or in part at any time (and if in part, by lot 
or in such other manner as may be determined by the Trustee to be fair and equitable), at a 
redemption price equal to the principal amount being redeemed plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date. 

In the event any of the Bonds or portions thereof (which shall be $100,000 or any integral 
multiple of $5,000 in excess of $100,000) are called for redemption, notice thereof shall be given 
by the Trustee by registered or certified mail to the registered owner of each such Bond addressed 



 

 

to such registered owner at his registered address, and placed in the mails not less than thirty (30) 
nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date fixed for redemption; provided, however, that failure 
to give such notice by mailing, or any defect therein, shall not affect the validity of the proceedings 
for the redemption of any Bond with respect to which no such failure or defect has occurred.  Each 
notice shall identify the Bonds or portions thereof being called, and the date on which they shall 
be presented for payment.  After the date specified in such call, the Bond or Bonds so called will 
cease to bear interest provided funds sufficient for their redemption have been deposited with the 
Trustee, and, except for the purpose of payment, shall no longer be protected by the Indenture and 
shall not be deemed to be outstanding under the provisions of the Indenture. 

With respect to notice of redemption of the Bonds, unless moneys sufficient to pay the 
principal of and interest on the Bonds to be redeemed shall have been received by the Trustee prior 
to the giving of such notice, such notice shall state that said redemption shall be conditional upon 
the receipt of such moneys by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption.  If 
such moneys shall not have been so received, such notice shall be of no force and effect, the Issuer 
shall not redeem such Bonds and the Trustee shall give notice, in the manner in which the notice 
of redemption was given, that such moneys were not so received. 

This Bond may be transferred on the books of registration kept by the Trustee by the 
registered owner or by his duly authorized attorney upon surrender hereof, together with a written 
instrument of transfer duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized attorney. 

The Bonds are issuable as registered Bonds without coupons in denominations of $100,000 
or any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess of $100,000.  Subject to the limitations and upon 
payment of the charges provided in the Indenture, Bonds may be exchanged for a like aggregate 
principal amount of Bonds of other authorized denominations. 

This Bond is issued with the intent that the laws of the State of Arkansas will govern its 
construction. 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED, RECITED AND DECLARED that all acts, conditions and 
things required to exist, happen and be performed precedent to and in the issuance of the Bonds 
do exist, have happened and have been performed in due time, form and manner as required by 
law; that the indebtedness represented by the Bonds, together with all obligations of the Issuer, 
does not exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation; and that the above referred to revenues 
pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same become due and 
payable will be sufficient in amount for that purpose. 

This Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 
security or benefit under the Indenture until the Certificate of Authentication hereon shall have 
been signed by the Trustee. 

  



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Texarkana, Arkansas has caused this Bond to be 
executed by its Mayor and City Cleric, thereunto duly authorized (by their manual or facsimile 
signatures), and its corporate seal to be affixed or imprinted, all as of the date of this Bond shown 
above. 

 CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 
  
  
 By:    
 Mayor 
ATTEST:    
  
   

City Clerk  
 
(SEAL) 

  



 

 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bond is one of the Bonds of the issue described in and issued under the provisions of 
the within mentioned Indenture. 

Date of registration and authentication: November 25, 2022 

 U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
Trustee 

  
  
 By:    
 Authorized Signature 
 
 
 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, __________________ ("Transferor"), hereby sells, assigns 
and transfers unto _________________, the within Bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby 
irrevocably constitutes and appoints _______________ ("Transferee") as attorney to transfer the 
within Bond on the books kept for registration thereof with full power of substitution in the 
premises. 

DATE: _____________, ________ 

   
 Transferor 
 
 
 
GUARANTEED BY: 

_____________________________ 
NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by a member firm of the New York Stock 

Exchange or a commercial bank or a trust company. 

 

  



 

 

RECORD OF ADVANCES AND PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS 

Date of 
Advance or 
Principal 
Payment  

Amount of 
Advance  

Amount of 
Principal 
Payment  

Total 
Principal 
Outstanding  

Signature of 
Authorized 
Officer 

         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         

 
*The date of each Advance shall be the interest commencement date from which the principal 
amount of such Advance bears interest. 

























 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE:  Adopt an Ordinance authorizing the City Manager to enter into a service 
agreement with the Texarkana Chamber of Commerce for support 
services to include advertising and development of a mobile tour 
application. (ADMIN) City Manager Jay Ellington 

An emergency clause is requested. An emergency clause requires a 
separate and distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a 
two-thirds vote of approval by the Board. 

AGENDA DATE:  November 21, 2022 

ITEM TYPE:  Ordinance��   Resolution��   Other�� :  

DEPARTMENT:  Administration 

PREPARED BY: Jay Ellington, City Manager 

REQUEST: Adopt an ordinance authorizing the City Manager to enter into a service 
agreement with The Texarkana Chamber of Commerce for support 
services to include advertising and development of a mobile tour 
application. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE : YES 

SUMMARY:  An ordinance authorizing the City Manager to enter into a service 
agreement with The Texarkana Chamber of Commerce in the amount of 
twenty-five thousand dollars and zero cents ($25,000) for: 

1. Advertising in four (4) issues of 2022 Arkansas Business Journal 
2. Development and maintenance (3 years) of a mobile application 

for historic and food tours of Texarkana 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $25,000 

AMOUNT BUDGETED:  N/A 

APPROPRIATION 
REQUIRED:  

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 
ACTION:  

The City Manager recommends Board approval.  

EXHIBITS:  Ordinance and service agreement with the Texarkana Chamber of 
Commerce. 

 



ORDINANCE  NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE WAIVING COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING; AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT 
WITH THE TEXARKANA CHAMBER OF 
COMMERCE , INC., TO PROVIDE AND 
PROCURE ADVERTISING AND WEBSITE 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES; FOR DECLARING 
AN EMERGENCY; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, �7�K�H�� �7�H�[�D�U�N�D�Q�D�� �&�K�D�P�E�H�U�� �R�I�� �&�R�P�P�H�U�F�H���� �,�Q�F���� ���W�K�H�� �³�&�K�D�P�E�H�U�´������ �L�V��

uniquely situated in its general promotion of the multi-state Texarkana region; and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to engage the Chamber to participate in regional 

advertising promoting the area in Arkansas Business, a prominent Arkansas publication 

and, further, with the participation of the City of Texarkana, Texas, in the development of 

a website geared to promote a historic �D�Q�G���I�R�R�G���W�R�X�U���R�I���7�H�[�D�U�N�D�Q�D�¶�V���P�D�M�R�U���D�W�W�U�D�F�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G��

restaurants, all in exchange for a lump sum payment of $25,000.00; and   

WHEREAS, the Chamber is uniquely situated to carry out and perform such 

services such that the Chamber constitutes a sole source; and 

WHEREAS, the public will realize substantial benefit from the services to be 

provided; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ark. Code Ann. §14-47-138, the Board of Directors may 

waive the requirements of competitive bidding in exceptional situations where competitive 

bidding is not feasible; and 

WHEREAS, Section 2-72 of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, Code of 

Ordinances, �U�H�F�R�J�Q�L�]�H�V���W�K�D�W���L�W���P�D�\���Q�R�W���E�H���I�H�D�V�L�E�O�H���W�R���R�E�W�D�L�Q���E�L�G�V���L�Q���³�S�X�U�F�K�D�V�H�V���I�U�R�P���µ�R�Q�O�\��

sources [���@�¶�´���D�Q�G�� 

WHEREAS, for the reasons set out above, it is not feasible or practicable to engage 

in competitive bidding for performance of the services contemplated; and  



WHEREAS, funds are budgeted and available; and   

WHEREAS, in consideration of and for the reasons set forth above, the City 

Manager requests any applicable competitive bidding practices be waived and the Board 

approve the engagement of the Chamber for performance of the services above;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that: 

Section 1: Any competitive bidding practices that may be otherwise required 

by applicable law and ordinance are waived and the City Manager is authorized to enter 

into an agreement reasonably necessary to engage the Chamber to perform the services 

contemplated above on the terms and conditions likewise so set out.     

Section 2: This action being necessary for the preservation of the public peace, 

health and safety (including, without limitation, advertisement calendar commitments), and 

a separate and distinct vote having been taken on this emergency clause, an emergency is 

therefore declared to exist, and this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its passage and approval. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 21st day of November, 2022. 

 
 

_____________________________ 
Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
________________________________ 
Heather Soyars, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
________________________________ 
George Matteson, City Attorney 



SERVICE AGREEMENT  
 

BETWEEN:  

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, 216 Walnut Street, Texarkana, Arkansas, 71854, USA 
(Hereby �U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���W�R���D�V���³�7�K�H���&�L�W�\�´�� 

 
-AND- 

 
Texarkana Chamber of Commerce, Inc., 819 North Stateline, Texarkana, Texas, 75501, 

USA 
(Hereby �U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���W�R���D�V���³The Chamber�´�� 

 
DEFINITIONS:  

�³�7�K�H���&�L�W�\�´ �± The City of Texarkana, Arkansas, 216 Walnut Street, Texarkana, Arkansas, 
71854, USA 
 
�³The Chamber�  ́ - Texarkana Chamber of Commerce, Inc., 819 North Stateline, 
Texarkana, Texas, 75501, USA  
 
�³�3�O�D�Q�´ �± A detailed description of how funding will be spent to include but not limited to 
measurable goals, outcomes and/or results, type of activities, cost, parties involved, time 
frame, etc. 

 
TERM/ TIME FRAME : 

Funds must be/have been spent/obligated during the 2022 calendar year beginning January 
1, 2022 and ending December 31, 2022. 
 
PLAN:  

The City will provide: 

a. A $25,000 lump sum payment upon successful completion of the projects set forth 
below.   

The Chamber will provide to The City: 

a. Advertising in four issues of 2022 Arkansas Business Journal (May 23, June 27, 
August 22, and October 10) with annual subscriptions of over 80,000 magazines 
and 50,000 e-newsletters.   

b. Provided that the City of Texarkana, Texas, likewise participate, one year of 
development and maintenance of a mobile application through Bandwango for a 
historic and food tour of Texarkana�¶�V���P�D�M�R�U���D�W�W�U�D�F�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G��restaurants.   

c. The Chamber will submit to The City a quarterly report outlining the status of the 
submitted Plan.  Report will be in a form and manner determined by The City. 
 



Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to (i) preclude or prohibit any The Chamber 
from requesting other funding from the Texarkana Advertising and Promotion Commission; or, 
(ii) vest the Chamber with any authority to act on behalf of The City or supervise any City 
Employee.  Other funds maybe proposed for consideration to the Advertising and Promotion 
Commission. 
 
CURRENCY:  

All monetary amounts referred to in the Agreement are in US Dollars. 
 
PAYMENT:  

Payment to The Chamber shall be made payable to �³Texarkana Chamber of Commerce�  ́
and mailed or hand delivered to: 
 
The Texarkana Chamber of Commerce 
819 North Stateline Avenue  
Texarkana, Texas 75501 
 
Payment as stated in the Agreement does not include sales tax or other applicable duties or 
taxes as required by law.  Payment of all taxes and duties shall be the responsibility of the 
Party making payment. 
 
INDEMNITY AND HOLD HARMLESS  
The Chamber will indemnify, defend and hold the City harmless from and against any loss, 
claim, damage or other liability arising from or in any way related to the services to be 
performed or carried out by The Chamber pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT : 

Any amendment or modification of this Agreement or additional obligation assumed by 
either Party in connection with this Agreement will only be binding if agreed to in writing 
and signed by each Party or an authorized representative of each Party. 
 
NOTICE:  

All notices, requests, demands or other communications required or permitted by the terms 
of this Agreement will be given in writing and delivered by mail or in person to the Parties 
of the Agreement as follows: 
 
The City of Texarkana, Arkansas 
216 Walnut Street  
Texarkana, Arkansas 71854 
 
The Texarkana Chamber of Commerce, Inc. 
819 North Stateline Avenue 



Texarkana, Texas 75501 
 
NO PARTNERSHIP CREATED:  
 
This Agreement shall not be interpreted or construed to create an association, joint venture, 
agency relationship, or partnership among the Parties or to impose any partnership 
obligation or partnership liability upon any Party. No Party shall have any right, power or 
authority to enter into any agreement or undertaking for, or act on behalf of, or to act as or 
be an agent or representative of, or to otherwise bind, any other Party. 
 
NO ASSIGNMENT:  
 
Neither party shall assign its rights or duties under this Agreement without the prior express 
written consent of the other party. 
 
SEVERABILITY, ENFORC EMENT, ENTIRE AGREEMENT, MISC.:  
In the event any of the provisions of this Agreement are held to be invalid or unenforceable 
in whole or in part all other provisions will nevertheless continue to be valid and 
enforceable with the invalid and unenforceable parts severed from the remainder of this 
Agreement.  This Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Arkansas.  This Agreement represents the entire understanding and 
agreement of the Parties hereto as to the matters contained herein and supersedes any and 
all prior discussions or negotiations concerning the same. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF  the Parties have duly affixed their signatures under hand and 
seal on this 21st day of November, 2022. 
 
 
 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas: 
 

 
Texarkana Chamber of Commerce: 
 

 
__________________________ 
Name 
 

 
__________________________ 
Name 
 

 
__________________________ 
Title 
 

 
__________________________ 
Title 
 

 
 
 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE:  Adopt an Ordinance authorizing the City Manager to enter into a service 
agreement with Main Street Texarkana for support services to include 
the 2022 Christmas Parade, Broad Street lighting upgrades and 
landscape enhancements. (ADMIN)  City Manager Jay Ellington 

An emergency clause is requested. An emergency clause requires a 
separate and distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a 
two-thirds vote of approval by the Board. 

AGENDA DATE:  November 21, 2022 

ITEM TYPE:  Ordinance��   Resolution��   Other�� :  

DEPARTMENT:  Administration 

PREPARED BY: Jay Ellington, City Manager 

REQUEST: Adopt an ordinance authorizing the City Manager to enter into a service 
agreement with Main Street Texarkana for support services to include 
the 2022 Christmas Parade, Broad Street lighting upgrades and 
landscape enhancements. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE : YES 

SUMMARY:  An ordinance authorizing the City Manager to enter into a service 
agreement with Main Street Texarkana in the amount of twenty-five 
thousand dollars and zero cents ($25,000) for: 

1. Organization, management, and oversight of the 2022 Christmas 
Parade. 

2. Lighting upgrades along Broad Street between Stateline Avenue 
and Beech. 

3. New planter for the corner of Walnut Street and Broad Street 
4. New plants for all downtown planters 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $25,000 

AMOUNT BUDGETED:  N/A 

APPROPRIATION 
REQUIRED:  

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 
ACTION:  

The City Manager recommends Board approval. 

EXHIBITS:  Ordinance and service agreement with Main Street Texarkana. 

 



SERVICE AGREEMENT  
 
BETWEEN:  

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, 216 Walnut Street, Texarkana, Arkansas, 71854, USA 
(Hereby �U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���W�R���D�V���³�7�K�H���&�L�W�\�´�� 

 
-AND- 

 
Main Street Texarkana, Inc., 300 North Stateline Avenue, Texarkana, Arkansas, 71854, 

USA 
(Hereby �U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���W�R���D�V���³�0�D�L�Q���6�W�U�H�H�W�´�� 

 
DEFINITIONS:  

�³�7�K�H���&�L�W�\�´ �± The City of Texarkana, Arkansas, 216 Walnut Street, Texarkana, Arkansas, 
71854, USA 
 
�³Main Street�  ́ - Main Street Texarkana, 300 North Stateline Avenue, Texarkana, 
Arkansas, 71854, USA 
 
�³�3�O�D�Q�´ �± A detailed description of how funding will be spent to include but not limited to 
measurable goals, outcomes and/or results, type of activities, cost, parties involved, time 
frame, etc. 

 
TERM/ TIME FRAME:  

Funds must be/have been spent during the 2022 calendar year beginning January 1, 2022 
and ending December 31, 2022. 
  
PLAN: 

The City will provide: 
a. A $25,000 lump sum payment upon acceptable completion of the projects set forth 

below.  
b. Street barricades during the 2022 Holiday Parade. 

The Main Street will provide to The City: 
a. Organization, promotion, management, and oversight of 2022 Holiday Parade to be 

held in the downtown Texarkana region.  Estimated attendance based on past events 
equals 10,000 people.   

b. Supply, install and on or before March 1, 2023, remove lighting and decorations 
along the .5 miles of Broad Street between Stateline and Beech.   

c. Support for landscape enhancements in downtown, including, without limitation, a 
new planter for downtown to replace currently-damaged one and plants for over 20 
planters. 
 



Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to (i) preclude or prohibit any Main 
Street from requesting other funding from the Texarkana Advertising and Promotion 
Commission; or, (ii) vest Main Street with any authority to act on behalf of The City or 
supervise any City Employee. 
 
REPORTING:  

Main Street will submit to The City a quarterly report outlining the status of the submitted 
Plan.  Report will be in a form and manner determined by The City.     
 
CURRENCY:  

All monetary amounts referred to in the Agreement are in US Dollars. 
 
PAYMENT:  

Payment to Main Street will be made payable to �³Main Street Texarkana�  ́and mailed or 
hand delivered to: 
 
Main Street Texarkana 
300 North Stateline Avenue 
Texarkana, Arkansas 71854 
 
Payment as stated in the Agreement does not include sales tax or other applicable duties or 
taxes as required by law.  Payment of all taxes and duties shall be the responsibility of the 
Party making payment. 
 
INDEMNITY AND HOLD HARMLESS  
Main Street will indemnify, defend and hold the City harmless from and against any loss, 
claim, damage or other liability arising from or in any way related to the services to be 
performed or carried out by Main Street pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT : 
Any amendment or modification of this Agreement or additional obligation assumed by 
either Party in connection with this Agreement will only be binding if agreed to in writing 
and signed by each Party or an authorized representative of each Party. 
 
NOTICE:  

All notices, requests, demands or other communications required or permitted by the terms 
of this Agreement will be given in writing and delivered by mail or in person to the Parties 
of the Agreement as follows: 
 
The City of Texarkana, Arkansas 
216 Walnut  
Texarkana, Arkansas 71854 



 
Main Street Texarkana 
300 North Stateline Avenue 
Texarkana, Arkansas 71854 
 
NO PARTNERSHIP CREATED:  
 
This Agreement shall not be interpreted or construed to create an association, joint venture, 
agency relationship, or partnership among the Parties or to impose any partnership 
obligation or partnership liability upon any Party. No Party shall have any right, power or 
authority to enter into any agreement or undertaking for, or act on behalf of, or to act as or 
be an agent or representative of, or to otherwise bind, any other Party. 
 
NO ASSIGNMENT:  
 
Neither party shall assign its rights or duties under this Agreement without the prior express 
written consent of the other party. 
 
SEVERABILITY, ENFORCEMENT, ENTIRE AGREEMENT,  MISC.:  
In the event any of the provisions of this Agreement are held to be invalid or unenforceable 
in whole or in part all other provisions will nevertheless continue to be valid and 
enforceable with the invalid and unenforceable parts severed from the remainder of this 
Agreement.  This Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Arkansas.  This Agreement represents the entire understanding and 
agreement of the Parties hereto as to the matters contained herein and supersedes any and 
all prior discussions or negotiations concerning the same. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF  the Parties have duly affixed their signatures under hand and 
seal on this 21st day of November, 2022. 
 
 
 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas: 

 
Main Street Texarkana: 

 
__________________________ 
Name 

 
__________________________ 
Name 

 
__________________________ 
Title 
 

 
__________________________ 
Title 
 

 



ORDINANCE  NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE WAIVING COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING; AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT 
WITH MAIN STREET TEXARKANA TO 
PROVIDE SERVICES PRODUCING AND 
PROMOTING THE 2022 HOLIDAY PARADE, 
PROVIDE BROAD STREET HOLIDAY 
LIGHTING, AND  MAINTAIN DOWNTOWN 
LANDSCAPE PLANTERS; FOR DECLARING AN 
EMERGENCY; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, �I�R�U�� �V�R�P�H�� �Q�X�P�E�H�U�� �R�I�� �\�H�D�U�V���� �0�D�L�Q�� �6�W�U�H�H�W�� �7�H�[�D�U�N�D�Q�D�� ���³�0�D�L�Q�� �6�W�U�H�H�W�´����

has been instrumental in the annual holiday parade undertaking, downtown holiday lights 

and the maintenance of downtown landscape planters; and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to engage Main Street to perform these services for 

the 2022 calendar year in exchange for a lump sum payment of $25,000.00 plus providing 

street barricades for the holiday parade; and   

WHEREAS, given its past involvement, Main Street is uniquely situated to carry 

out and perform such services such that Main Street constitutes a sole source; and 

WHEREAS, the public realizes substantial benefit from an annual holiday parade, 

holiday lights, and downtown landscaping 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ark. Code Ann. §14-47-138, the Board of Directors may 

waive the requirements of competitive bidding in exceptional situations where competitive 

bidding is not feasible; and 

WHEREAS, Section 2-72 of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, Code of 

Ordinances, �U�H�F�R�J�Q�L�]�H�V���W�K�D�W���L�W���P�D�\���Q�R�W���E�H���I�H�D�V�L�E�O�H���W�R���R�E�W�D�L�Q���E�L�G�V���L�Q���³�S�X�U�F�K�D�V�H�V���I�U�R�P���µ�R�Q�O�\��

sources [���@�¶�´���D�Q�G�� 

WHEREAS, for the reasons set out above, it is not feasible or practicable to engage 

in competitive bidding for performance of the services contemplated; and  



WHEREAS, funds are budgeted and available; and   

WHEREAS, in consideration of and for the reasons set forth above, the City 

Manager requests any applicable competitive bidding practices be waived and the Board 

approve the engagement of Main Street for performance of the services above;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that: 

Section 1: Any competitive bidding practices that may be otherwise required 

by applicable law and ordinance are waived and the City Manager is authorized to enter 

into an agreement reasonably necessary to engage Main Street to perform the services 

contemplated above on the terms and conditions likewise so set out.     

Section 2: This action being necessary for the preservation of the public peace, 

health, and safety (including, without limitation, the upcoming holiday season), and a 

separate and distinct vote having been taken on this emergency clause, an emergency is 

therefore declared to exist, and this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its passage and approval. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 21st day of November, 2022. 

 

 
_____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
________________________________ 
Heather Soyars, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
________________________________ 
George Matteson, City Attorney 


